
1 
 

Portfolio Holder for Economic Development, 
Housing and Regulatory Services 

 
  

 
County Hall 

Llandrindod Wells 
Powys 

LD1 5LG 

 
 

 
For further information please contact 

 
Stephen Boyd 
steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk 
01597 826374 

 11 November 2019 
 

 

NOTICE OF INTENDED PORTFOLIO HOLDER DELEGATED 
DECISION 

 
The Portfolio Holder has received the following report for a decision to be taken 
under delegated authority. The decision will be taken on 15 November 2019 (i.e. 3 
clear days after the date of this note). The decision will be published on the Council’s 
website but will not be implemented until 5 clear days after the date of publication of 
the decision) to comply with the call-in process set out in Rule 7.36 of the 
Constitution.  

 

1.  COUNCIL RESPONSE TO THE DRAFT NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
FRAMEWORK  

 
(Pages 3 - 38) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER DELEGATED DECISION  

by 
COUNTY COUNCILLOR JAMES EVANS 

(PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, HOUSING AND 
REGULATORY SERVICES) 

 
 

Date: 11 November 2019 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Dr. Adrian Humpage, Senior Planning Officer – Planning 
Policy  

  
SUBJECT: Council Response to the Draft National Development 

Framework (NDF) 
  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 The Welsh Government have published a Draft National Development 
Framework (2020-2040) setting out the place that Wales should be by 2040.  The 
National Development Framework (NDF) is a new development plan to manage growth 
and change over a 20-year period.  It sets the overarching development plan framework 
which all lower tier (i.e. regional and local level) development plans must conform with 
and build upon. 
 
1.2 The NDF will formally replace the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) and enjoy a higher 
planning status as, unlike the WSP,  it will be part of the statutory  “development plan” 
(through the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 which amended the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).  Section 38 (6) of the 2004 Act states that: 
 

“if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise”. 
 

1.3 The Welsh Government are committed to a three tier development plan system 
as set out below.   Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan as 
a whole (i.e.  the three tier development plan once it is fully in place): 
 

Level Plan Coverage Content 

National  National Development 
Framework 

all Wales considers 
issues at the 
national scale 

Regional Strategic Development Plans prepared at a 
regional level 
covering more 
than one Local 

covers regional 
or sub-regional 
scales 

Page 3

1



2 
 

Planning 
Authority Area 
(in full or part) 

Local Local Development Plans prepared by 
each individual 
Local Planning 
Authority for 
their Area 

considers 
issues at the 
local scale 

 
1.4 Wording in the Draft NDF clarifies that the document “does not seek to identify 
the exact location for new development, the scale of growth in individual settlements or 
prescribe precise boundaries of areas where development should not take place.  The 
regional and local tiers are the appropriate level at which to take these decisions, 
involving communities as they do so”. 
 
1.5 The finalised National Development Framework is due in September 2020.  The 
Draft has been prepared in compliance with the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Government consider that it reflects, aligns and 
maximises its contribution to the wellbeing goals, objectives and ways of working.    
 
1.6 The consultation was launched for the period 7th August – 1st  November 2019 
but on 17th October the consultation closing period was extended by two weeks (to 
Friday 15th November 2019) due to late changes made to the Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (amendments published 21 August) and the Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal (amendments published 28th August). 
 
1.7 The Council response to the Draft NDF must be submitted to the Welsh 
Government by 15th November 2019.   The Portfolio Holder is asked to consider and 
agree the proposed response (see Appendix 1) for submission by this date. 
 
2. Proposal 
 
 
2.1 The Council’s full proposed response is set out in Appendix 1.  The response 
form is that provided by the Welsh Government.  This report seeks the Portfolio Holder’s 
approval of the attached Consultation Response on behalf of Powys County Council. 
 
2.2 Planning Policy notified all County Councillors of the Draft NDF consultation on 
23rd August and a number of relevant internal consultees on 12th September.  All were 
encouraged to respond to the content of the Draft NDF. 
 
2.3 In order to collate an overall response for the Council, any individual responses 
were requested  to be submitted to Planning Policy  by Friday 4 October (County 
Councillors were also advised they could submit their own responses direct to Welsh 
Government if they chose to do so) . 
 
2.4 As a result of the notifications, Planning Policy received two responses.  Both of 
these concerned the Renewable Energy section of the Draft NDF.  They were submitted 
by:  1. The Planning Committee and 2.  The Welsh Conservatives Group.  These 
representations have been included in the attached response (Appendix 1). 
 

Page 4



3 
 

2.5 Planning Policy Officers held a Team Meeting to discuss the policy response 
further on 9th October 2019.  Additionally, during the course of the consultation further 
work and discussions took place with e.g. Growing Mid Wales, Planning Officer Society 
for Wales and the regional planning officers group for Mid and South west Wales 
(POSW). 
    
2.6 In summary, whilst the Council is pleased to see progress on a National 
Development Framework for Wales, we express concerns that the Draft NDF is not yet 
fit to operate as an over-arching development plan for the country.  It is considered that 
the document fails to set a robust, clear, consistent and well-evidenced development 
framework for Wales.   Spatial planning matters have been mixed alongside wider aims 
and aspirations of the Welsh Government, not all with a land-use basis, leading to 
confusion.   The document has changeable and confusing terminology and also 
includes potentially misleading headline housing figures.   
 
2.7 The Draft NDF also omits some important policies in respect of the Plans 
identified challenges/outcomes (e.g. ageing population, Welsh Language, addressing 
the impacts of renewable schemes beyond wind/solar).   Advice on regional planning is 
also inconsistent.    Opportunities to align Regional Policies across the separate 
regional chapters have been missed.  This would have helped for ease of 
reading/understanding and would simplify the cross-referencing between the 
approaches across the three identified regions.  
     
2.8 The Council considers that the Draft NDF lacks the land-use planning focus and 
linkages to Planning Policy Wales expected of a higher tier development plan.  The 
development policies need further work and, in particular, the framework for the 
Regions should be reviewed.  The Council do not consider that being part of the very 
large and varied region of Mid and South West Wales (MSWW) is suitable forward 
planning for Powys.  The Council propose that a separate region for Mid Wales (i.e. 
Region 4) is created comprising both the Powys Local Planning Authority area and the 
Ceredigion Local Planning Authority area.  This would streamline the potential for 
continuing, and developing, regional working across this much smaller geographical 
area whilst recognising the similarities these Authorities face in terms of opportunities 
and challenges such as settlement size, geographical footprint, distance from main 
conurbations, the threat of declining population and a major dependence upon a rural 
economy. 
 
2.9 Particularly given the extent of land set to be affected in Powys, the Council is 
concerned that the Spatial Strategy and Policies for large scale (Developments of 
National Significance) Renewable Energy both in Priority Areas (Policy 10) and outside  
Priority Areas (Policy 11) are insufficient. The detailed response is in Appendix 1, and 
identified issues are summarised below:  
 

• The NDF and the underpinning evidence base fails to recognise other important 
economic sectors and strategic land uses within Powys including tourism and 
military usage. 

• There are inconsistencies with regards the treatment of statutory environmental 
designations and alignment with other policies within the NDF which propose the 
safeguarding of as yet undefined green infrastructure. 

• Insufficient refinement of the areas to protect dwellings and settlements from loss 
of amenity for large wind and solar proposals. 

Page 5



4 
 

• No recognition in the NDF of policy mechanisms to enable the delivery of local 
ownership of renewable energy schemes. 

• Insufficient detail to enable decision-makers to determine whether a development 
proposal is within or outside a priority area. 

• Policies proposed in NDF are inconsistent with regional policies which indicate 
that renewable energy should be addressed through Strategic Development 
Plans. 

• There has been no detailed landscape sensitivity work undertaken as part of the 
evidence base to inform the priority areas. 

• The NDF policies are divorced from the evidence base and local plan policies. 

• Determination of new ancillary and grid infrastructure for DNS proposals is not 
considered by the NDF and should be inter-related through policy. 

• The impacts upon communities is not adequately addressed. 

• It is not clear how priority areas for district heating networks have been identified 
and there is no correlation with the regional growth areas where such networks 
may be viably delivered. 

 
 
 
2.10 The draft Council response has been submitted for comments before being 
submitted to the Portfolio Holder for consideration and agreement. 
 
3. Background/Summary of the Draft NDF 
 
3.1 The easy read version of the NDF explains the main purpose of the NDF through 
two chapters on: 

1.   Where Wales will grow: 

• Towns and Cities 

• Countryside Communities 

• The Three Regions (North Wales, Mid and South West Wales and 
South East Wales) 

2.  How we plan and manage growth 

• Lasting growth in towns and cities 

• Supporting communities in the countryside 

• Mobile phone signal 

• Clean energy vehicles 

• Green spaces 

• National Forest 

• Clean energy  

• Heat Networks 
 
3.2 The easy read version also explains that the government wants “1 million people 
to speak Welsh by 2050” and that “visitors to Wales make Welsh businesses £6 billion”.  
 
3.3 In response to the identified challenges and opportunities facing Wales (Chapter 
2 of the Draft NDF) the framework sets out to achieve 11 Outcomes, recognised as 
being interrelated and interdependent.  The Welsh Government proposes to develop 
through the NDF (and other development plans) in the next 20 years:  

A Wales where people live....  

1. and work in connected, inclusive and healthy places  

Page 6



5 
 

2. in vibrant rural places with access to homes, jobs and services  

3. in distinctive regions that tackle health and socio-economic inequality through 
sustainable growth  

4. in places with a thriving Welsh Language  

5. and work in towns and cities which are a focus and springboard for sustainable 
growth  

6. in places where prosperity, innovation and culture are promoted  

7. in places where travel is sustainable  

8. in places with world-class digital infrastructure  

9. in places that sustainably manage their natural resources and reduce pollution  

10. in places with biodiverse, resilient and connected ecosystems  

11. in places which are decarbonised.  

3.4 The Draft NDF contains 33 Policies to implement this approach comprising: 

• 15 national policies, 

• One overarching regional policy, 

• Six policies for North Wales, 

• Four policies for Mid and South West Wales (but only one policy includes 
Mid Wales – Policy 24 on Regional Centres), 

• Seven policies for South East Wales. 
 
3.5 The 15 proposed National Policies are: 
 

Policy 1: Sustainable Urban Growth  
Policy 2: Supporting Urban Centres  
Policy 3: Public Investment, Public Buildings and Publicly Owned Land  
Policy 4: Supporting Rural Communities  
Policy 5: Delivering Affordable Homes  
Policy 6: Planning in Mobile Action Zones  
Policy 7: Ultra Low Emission Vehicles  
Policy 8: Strategic framework for biodiversity enhancement and ecosystem 

resilience  
Policy 9: National forest  
Policy 10: Wind and Solar Energy in Priority Areas  
Policy 11: Wind and Solar Energy Outside of Priority Areas  
Policy 12: Wind and Solar Energy in National Parks and Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty  
Policy 13: Other Renewable Energy Developments  
Policy 14: Priority Areas for District Heat Networks  
Policy 15: Master planning for District Heat Networks  

 
3.6 The Regions section of the NDF is set out as follows: 
 

Policy 16: Strategic Policies for Regional Planning  
 

North Wales 
Policy 17: Wrexham and Deeside  
Policy 18: North Wales Coastal Settlements  
Policy 19: Green Belts in North Wales  

Page 7



6 
 

Policy 20: Port of Holyhead  
  Policy 21: Transport Links to North West England  

Policy 22: North West Wales and Energy  
 

Mid and West Wales 
Policy 23: Swansea Bay and Llanelli  
Policy 24: Regional Centres  
Policy 25: Haven Waterway  
Policy 26: Swansea Bay Metro  

 
South East Wales 

Policy 27:  Cardiff  
Policy 28: Newport  
Policy 29: The Heads of the Valleys  
Policy 30: Green Belts in South East Wales  
Policy 31: Growth in sustainable transit orientated settlements  
Policy 32: Cardiff Airport  
Policy 33: Valleys Regional Park  

 
3.4 The Councils main concerns are explained fully in the attached draft response 
(Appendix 1) and summarised below: 
 

• The NDF outcomes have not been set out as a set of specific or measurable 
land-use planning objectives.  Instead, they comprise a confusing mix of long-
term vision, aims and aspirations and they muddle genuine planning 
outcomes with more general Welsh Government policy/direction of travel. 

• This means that the NDF Policies associated with them are, in several cases, 
poorly connected to the outcomes and/or poorly related to the land-use 
planning system. 

• The NDF should be reviewed and rewritten to deliver a stronger and more 
realistic spatial planning focus that lower tier plans can readily relate to.  It 
would then serve much more effectively as the highest tier development plan 
in terms of the legislative context of development plans and properly 
complement the existing national policy framework of PPW and TANs which 
in themselves already set a strong framework for lower tier plans. 

• Putting the Welsh Government housing need figures into the NDF is regarded 
as unnecessary.  The figures quoted will soon date and fundamentally the 
evidence behind them is not the same process as that being used at the local 
tier planning level.  

• The NDF needs to be clearer on the approach required to regional planning 
and explain if a regional planning framework (through SDPs) should cover all 
of Wales.  The Council is of the view that there is no need for a regional level 
plan for Powys, considering the strengths and challenges, and therefore the 
strategic planning issues, in Powys are significantly different to those faced by 
South West Wales.  Mid Wales could be recognised as a separate discrete 
region and regional/sub-regional matters could potentially be addressed by a 
Joint LDP without the need for a second-tier development plan. 

• The choice of two Regional (Growth) Centres in the Powys Local Planning 
Authority Area, comprising Newtown and Llandrindod Wells, is not well 
evidenced.   Furthermore, there is a strong argument that high level plans 
should not set these as growth focal points without first undertaking 
settlement capacity studies to prove that delivery of regional-scale growth is 

Page 8



7 
 

possible.  The purpose of identifying these two towns at this stage is unclear 
as the Draft NDF offers little concrete meaning to the regional (growth) 
centres.  No figures or proportions of growth are proposed in the NDF 
meaning this is left to lower tier plans to figure out. 

• Beyond cities and large towns (i.e. centres identified for nationally significant 
growth), it is considered that the development of a settlement hierarchy is 
better taken by the Local Planning Authority who have a more detailed 
understanding of how places function in their own local area and where 
settlement capacity studies have been undertaken to inform realistic growth 
options. 

• In the drive for clean energy the Draft NDF sets out Priority Areas for 
Renewable Energy.  The Priority Areas (giving a Green Light to large scale 
renewable wind and solar schemes) will have a significant and overriding 
impact on Powys and must therefore be properly controlled with respect to 
local communities, the Powys landscape, environment and tourism assets 
and all other planning matters.  The work undertaken to evidence the 
Renewable Energy Policies of the adopted Powys LDP should not be ignored 
by the higher tier NDF plan. 

• Note that the attached draft response includes the comments of both the 
Planning Committee and the Welsh Conservative Group.   It is considered 
that the Draft NDF ignores well-evidenced Powys LDP policies and 
accompanying adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance.  The NDF should 
pay due regard to the impact of lower tier development plans and highlight to 
developers the need to refer to local level plans and guidance. 

• The Council recognises the imperative of decarbonisation and tackling the 
causes of climate change but the risk of over-development, blight and 
adverse cumulative impacts falling heavily upon our large and unspoilt rural 
county must be protected against. 

 
3. Options Considered / Available 
 
3.1 The Council has the option not to submit a response to the Draft NDF.  However, 
as the document will become the highest level of development plan it will impact on the 
future content and direction of the Council’s local (and regional) planning policy work 
and development plan preparation as well as on planning decisions.  It is therefore 
logical to submit a response in order to ensure that the Council’s concerns are heard 
during this important engagement phase.  
 
 
4. Preferred Choice and Reasons 
 
4.1 The preferred choice is to approve the response (Appendix 1), including any 
additional recommendations agreed by the Portfolio Holder in consultation with the 
Professional Lead, Planning Policy, once this report has been circulated, as a response 
on behalf of Powys County Council. 
 
 
5. Impact Assessment 
 
5.1 Is an impact assessment required?   No. 
 
6. Corporate Improvement Plan 

Page 9



8 
 

 
6.1 This response is in alignment with the current Corporate Improvement Plan. 
 
7. Local Member(s) 
 
7.1 The NDF will be an all Wales development plan and will therefore apply to all 
areas of Powys including the area of Powys within the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Planning Authority.  It is anticipated that the BBNP LPA will be responding separately to 
the Draft NDF consultation.  This response has not taken National Park issues into 
account. 
 
8. Other Front Line Services  
 
Does the recommendation impact on other services run by the Council or on behalf of 
the Council?  Yes 
 
Other services will be required to follow the NDF once it is in place. The Development 
Management service will be responsible for ensuring that planning recommendations 
and decisions take account of the three-tier development plan framework.   Lower tier 
plans should be in conformity with the NDF, where they are not (due to awaiting 
updating etc) the newer higher level Plan will carry the most significant weight and 
should be considered accordingly. 
 
NDF policies on Affordable Housing, Publicly Owned Buildings and Land, Biodiversity 
Enhancement, Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure and Supporting the Rural 
Economy will have a cross-cutting effects to other service areas in the Council 
(Housing, Regeneration, Transport, Ecology etc). 
 
9. Communications  
 
Have Communications seen a copy of this report? 
 
Comments have been requested and will follow as appropriate 
 
10. Support Services (Legal, Finance, Corporate Property, HR, ICT,  

Business Services) 
 
10.1 Legal  - Comments have been requested and will follow as appropriate 
 
 
10.2 Finance - Comments have been requested and will follow as appropriate 
 
 
 
12. Statutory Officers  
 
12.1 The Solicitor to the Council (Monitoring Officer) commented as follows:  
 
Comments have been requested and will follow as appropriate 
 
 
13. Members’ Interests 

Page 10



9 
 

 
The Monitoring Officer is not aware of any specific interests that may arise in relation to 
this report. If the Portfolio Holder has an interest, he should declare it, complete the 
relevant notification for and refer the matter to Cabinet for decision.  
 

Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation: 

To approve the Council’s response to 
the Draft NDF in order that it may be 
submitted to the Welsh Government 
by the deadline date of 15th November 
2019. 

To ensure that the views of the 
Council, as Local Planning Authority, 
are put forward to the Welsh 
Government to inform the final NDF. 

 
Relevant Policy (ies):  
Within Policy: Y Within Budget: Y 

 
Relevant Local Member(s): All 

 
Person(s) To Implement Decision: Portfolio Holder 
Date By When Decision To Be Implemented:  

 

Contact Officer: Peter Morris/Adrian Humpage 
Tel:   01597 827773 
Email:   peter.morris@powys.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers used to prepare Report: 
 
National Development Framework 2020-2040, Consultation Draft:  7th August -1 
November 2019 (Welsh Government, 2019). 
 
Wales 2020 to 2040 (easy read version) – What we need to think about when planning 
things like houses, buildings and power supplies (Welsh Government, 2019). 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

National Development Framework 

 

 

 

 

Consultation Response Form 

 

 

  

Your name 

 

 

Powys County Council 

 

 

 

Your address 

 

 

County Hall 

Spa Road East 

Llandrindod Wells 

LD1 6AA 

 

Preferred contact details 

(email/phone/post) 

 

ldp@powys.gov.uk 

 

Organisation (if applicable) 

 

 

Powys County Council 

Page 13



 

 

1. NDF Outcomes (chapter 3) 

 

The NDF has proposed 11 Outcomes as an ambition of where we want to be in 20 

years’ time.  

• Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree the 11 Outcomes are a realistic 
vision for the NDF?  
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

The outcomes are confused. Some read as laudable aspiration, others as a desired outcome 

whilst some are presented as statements of fact and are not forward-looking. Contrary to the 

stated intention of preparing a strategy for a development plan, the outcomes are not well-linked 

to land-use planning objectives so there is a disconnect with what the NDF should be setting out 

to do. 

To what extent do you agree with the 11 Outcomes as ambitions for the NDF? 

 

Agree with all 
of them 

Agree with 
most of 
them 

Agree with 
some of them 

Agree with 
none of them 

Don’t know 
No 

opinion 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

These appear to be a mix of policy (and legislative?) ambitions for the Welsh Government but 

they are broadly worded and hence do not all have a place in a statutory development planning 

document.  The Outcomes do not have a strong spatial focus meaning they fail to make 

appropriate links to the accompanying NDF Policies. 

 

• If you disagree with any of the 11 Outcomes, please tell us why: 
 

The wording of the outcomes can be difficult to decipher in terms of exact relationships to 
subsequent NDF Policies. 
 
Outcome 1:  No specific mention of the focus on increasing affordable homes (hence 

neglects link to Policy 5) or meeting the housing needs of ageing population.  Unrealistic to 

say that cities, towns AND VILLAGES will be physically and digitally well connected – 

villages especially may not be well-serviced or well connected.  Outcome 1 should relate 

more definitively to the nationally significant (and regionally significant?) places that the NDF 

goes on to identify otherwise it is too broad in scope especially as it fails to mention the 

impact of lower level development plans. 

Outcome 2:  Mention of small towns and villages is welcomed, although the outcome 
suggests growth is acceptable in ALL small towns and villages. This is not appropriate as the 
outcome neglects to highlight the sustainable settlement hierarchy approach that lower tier 
plans will undoubtedly adopt.   
 
Support for the agricultural sector and diversification is too specific and fails to mention 
support of the wider rural economy. As a result, this outcome does not properly reflect Policy 

Page 14



 

 

4).  If the support is related to specific farming initiatives stemming beyond land-use 
planning, it is confusing to add this into the NDF context.  Similarly, Outcome 6 strays away 
from land-use planning after the first sentence.  
 
Outcome 3: It is of concern to the Council that the defined regions do not align with other 
regional initiatives, such as Growth Deals. The Council objects to this and considers that a 
four-region approach is necessary, reflecting the Mid Wales Growth Deal region. It is also 
noted that references to towns and villages as highlighted in Outcome 1 are not further 
developed in the regional sections of the document, thus creating a disparity with policies. It 
is disappointing that the linkages of tiers of plans and settlement hierarchies in the regions is 
poorly developed.  
 
Outcome 4:  This outcome should be supported by an NDF policy on Welsh Language.  At 

present there is no policy to implement the management of development in areas of Wales 

where Welsh is the everyday language.  If this policy can be left to the regional and local 

levels of the development plan through following PPW and TAN advice, then it probably 

should not feature as an NDF outcome.  The NDF should reference the importance of these 

accompanying documents and how they influence lower tier policy.  It is also confusing to 

talk about a target date of 2050 when the NDF is set to span 20 years to 2040.  At present 

the outcome is focussed on wider Welsh Government aims rather than on how land-use 

planning contributes to addressing the issue. 

 
Outcome 5 might be presumed to relate to national growth areas but if so, it does not make 

a clear link.  If it relates to ALL cities and large towns, the relationship of the NDF to lower 

tier plans (which will control development here) should be made more transparent.  It is 

unclear if Outcome 5 is supposed to apply to both urban and rural situations.  The Council 

also disagrees that cities and large towns are always magnets for growth and investment – 

depends on scale, location and economic prosperity of the city/large town.  Outcome 5 

promises investment in new homes, jobs and services in areas outside the urban centres – 

statement lacks clarity not helped by a confusion of terminology – are “urban centres” 

distinct from cities and large towns?  Again, this statement does not acknowledge how the 

spatial strategies of lower tier plans will influence development. 

 
Outcome 6: The Council in principle is supportive of the ambition of this outcome, but as 
worded it fails to recognise the inevitable contradictions between positively enabling growth 
whilst safeguarding the culture, heritage and environment of Wales (attractiveness to 
tourists, trusted by businesses).  Particularly so when there is a presumption for landscape 
change in renewable energy priority areas. 
 
Outcome 7 says too much beyond land use planning.  It could start and finish with 
“sustainable transport infrastructure will be embedded ……..” 
 
Outcome 8 seems at odds with other outcomes as it has no accompanying policy.  
PPW/TAN would be better placed to set the positive planning framework for digital 
infrastructure which lower tier plans can then reflect.  Outcome 8 also focuses on broadband 
technology whereas NDF Policy 6 relates to the different technology of Mobile Phone 
communications. 
 
Outcome 9:  Not worded with clear links to planning/development – very broad focus.  It 
could be worded to start “Development Plans will …….” copying the format of Objective 6.  
This puts land-use planning at the forefront. 
 
Outcomes should be accompanied by a Monitoring Framework to capture the 

Page 15



 

 

implementation of the policies to enable effective reviewing of the NDF. 

 

Page 16



 

 

 

2. Spatial Strategy (policies 1 - 4) 

 

The NDF spatial strategy is a guiding framework for where large-scale change and 

nationally important developments will be focused over the next 20 years.  

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the spatial strategy and key 
principles for development in… 
 

 
Strongly 

agree 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
Urban 
areas 
(Policies 
1, 2 & 3) 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Rural 
areas 
(Policy 4) 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

• If you have any comments on the spatial strategy or key principles for 
development in urban and rural areas, please tell us: 
 

• The Council agrees in principle with the approach of the NDF’s spatial strategy but 

not all the finer details or the emergent policy framework. 

• It is not clear if Policy 1 is supposed to apply to all towns and cities.  If so, the Policy 

lacks a spatial focus on the nationally significant places that the spatial strategy aims 

to promote. 

• Settlement Capacity Studies should underpin the strategy.  Otherwise delivery is at 

risk. 

• It is noted that the presumption against new towns set out in Chapter 4 conflicts with 

PPW advice which says that these are an SDP matter (3.49 PPW Edn 10). 

• The Outcomes section is poorly related to the chapter text justifying the spatial 

strategy. (For example, co-location is not mentioned as an ambition nor the 

importance of safeguarding against greenfield sprawl and preventing the 

squandering of key assets (productive countryside and natural resources). There is a 

lack of clarity to where and how the policies apply and the relationship to the 

outcomes, which may result in unintended consequences. For example, applying the 

policies in more rural towns to ensure access to sustainable transport may result in 

inappropriate ribbon development along a highway which provides the only public 

transport link. 

Page 17



 

 

• The key principles are not well-related to the later regional chapters. 

• “Urban Centres” needs a definition.  It is unclear if urban in this context is a 

population of 10,000 plus or if it is an alternative definition.  Otherwise there is conflict 

between Policy 1 and Policy 4 – and in distinguishing a rural town from an urban 

town – for example: 

Towns in Powys generally meet the definition on page 28 of a rural area (settlements 

less than 10,000 people) meaning the Council would presume that they are 

considered to be within Policy 4 which supports rural towns and villages.  Rural 

settlements can grow where  “it is appropriate, proportionate to the needs of the 

settlement and the wider rural areas they serve and where it has been planned”.  The 

identification of two Powys towns as important regional centres/regional growth areas 

therefore does not accord with Policy 4 which states that the future for rural towns is 

best planned at the regional and local (i.e. not national) level. Implementing regional 

growth areas in Powys (Newtown and Llandrindod Wells) through the NDF needs 

further justification. 

• Terms should be explained in a glossary. 

• Policy 2 has a strange title – the title does not reflect the purpose of the policy. 

• Policies 1 and 2 could perhaps be better addressed by one robust policy for 

sustainable urban growth in Cities and Large Towns, whether public or private. 

• Policy 3 is confusing. In land-use planning terms there is not a distinction between 

public and private investment, the proposal has to be the right development in the 

right place. It is unclear how “developments of significant scale” such as the 

examples referred to in the supporting text be located in town or city centres. 

• Policy 3 starts with a general statement which does not act as policy for decision-

making.   The second statement is potentially better placed in PPW for lower-tier plan 

making purposes.  The sustainable place making outcomes in PPW would be used in 

site selection and in assessing choices.  It is currently unclear how Policy 3 should be 

used in practice. 

• If retained, Policy 3 should not just be for public investment etc. – land-use planning 

should provide for either private or public schemes of significant scale. 

• Policy 3, if retained, should be re-worded to say “Strategic and/or Local Development 

Plans…..” At present, it presumes all regional areas will be part of a regional plan 

implying total SDP coverage. This is at odds with other references in the NDF which 

acknowledge a flexible approach or that Joint LDPs may be more appropriate than 

an SDP (e.g. page 56). 

Rural Areas Policy 4: 

• Managing sustainable and appropriate proportionate growth in rural areas is 

welcomed – the NDF is positive and appears to encourage more growth.  

“Development in towns and villages in rural areas will support local aspirations 

and need” and this is supported in principle. However, a clearer steer on what is 

meant by rural areas and how they are “to sustain themselves” should be 

provided, particularly taking account of sustainable settlement hierarchies 

identified in LDPs.  The Council questions the fit with national sustainable place-

Page 18



 

 

making outcomes as local aspirations/needs may well be at odds with them. 

• The NDF should reference the importance of spatial strategies in Strategic and 

Local Development plans to reduce confusion as to where growth may be 

acceptable. 

• It is of major concern to the Council that only the agricultural sector is referred to 

in policy to the exclusion of any other component of the rural economy. For 

example, tourism is an important sector, particularly in rural areas, and is 

neglected throughout the NDF document, despite it being a WG priority growth 

sector. 

 

 

Page 19



 

 

 
3. Affordable Housing (policy 5) 
 

The NDF sets out the approach for providing affordable housing, encouraging local 

authorities, social landlords, and small and medium-sized construction and building 

enterprises to build more homes.  

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to increasing 
affordable housing? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF approach the delivery of 
affordable housing? 
 

• Agree with the approach towards increasing affordable housing and a greater role for 

RSLs and Local Authorities in this. The Council also supports the principle that there 

are no affordable housing numbers/targets in Policy as those numbers will change 

over time. 

• The Council considers that it is important that the NDF ensures alignment with the 

approach taken with respect to affordable housing provision in the LDP manual. 

• Policy makes it transparent what the hierarchy of Strategic and Local Development 

plans are expected to include. However, the policy states that development plan 

targets will be based on regional estimates and it is unclear how those targets will be 

determined if an area is not within a Strategic Development Plan area. 

• The figure in the MSWW regional section of 44% of additional homes to be affordable 

homes, could be mis-interpreted as a site level target.  It should be clarified that, as 

detailed in Policy 5, LDPs will set locally relevant targets for development sites 

(influenced by both local need and viability).   

• Agree in principle with the need to identify sites for affordable housing-led 

developments at a local level. 

• Of concern to the Council, in the absence of publicly owned land, it will be difficult to 

incentivise private landowners or secure the best sites for these schemes, as viability 

concerns and the market may preclude delivery. It is not clear how the policy may 

support private sectors.  

• The NDF definition of housing need used in the estimate of housing needs is not 

based on the planning (TAN2) definition.  The reason for changing the definitions 

used is unclear and may have implications for monitoring.  

• We understand the figures for the (overall) need for additional homes included in the 

NDF to be a Welsh Government housing figure not a planning figure.  As this is not 

intended to be a planning target this should be made clear in the document or it may 

be better, to avoid confusion, if the document did not include numbers at all. 

Page 20



 

 

• PPW emphasises the need for Planning Authorities to plan for a mix of housing, 

including for older people and people with disabilities.  NDF fails to address the 

challenges of specialist housing types, but the Council considers this issue is of such 

national importance that it needs policy support from the NDF. 

 

Page 21



 

 

 
4. Mobile Action Zones (policy 6) 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree the identification of mobile action zones 
will be effective in encouraging better mobile coverage?  
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF improve mobile phone coverage 
in the areas which currently have limited access? 
 

• LDPs are required to provide a spatial expression to any policy with a spatial link.  

The NDF should not be treated differently in this respect.  Therefore, as these zones 

are yet to be identified, it is considered that this policy advice would be better 

expressed through PPW. 

• There is disconnect with the linkages to the Outcomes - How does this policy on 

mobile phone communications relate to Outcome 8 on broadband? 

 

 

Page 22



 

 

 
5. Low Emission Vehicles (policy 7) 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree that policy 7 will enable and encourage 
the roll-out of charging infrastructure for ultra-low emission vehicles? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF enable and encourage the roll-
out of charging infrastructure for ultra-low emission vehicles? 
 

• Policy 7 – this is an action point not a Policy.  PPW and the sustainable transport 
hierarchy already covers low emission vehicles so PPW/relevant TANs could be 
used to further encourage them and to ensure that lower tier development plans 
address the issue. 

• The policy title “Ultra Low Emission vehicles” must be clarified – as worded it implies 
it is limited to electric vehicles.  The Policy should not be restrictive and should not 
just emphasise charging infrastructure for electric vehicles, which may be 
inappropriate in rural areas. The policy should be more enabling and provide the 
policy framework for other forms of low emissions technology, such as hydrogen fuel 
infrastructure.  

 
 

Page 23



 

 

 
6. Green Infrastructure (policies 8 & 9) 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to maintaining and 
enhancing biodiversity and ecological networks? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

• The Council agrees in principle with the approach; however, it is noted that there 

is a change in approach in particular towards seeking enhancements. 

• It may be difficult to gauge what is reasonable in terms of enhancement (impact 

on viability/practicalities of delivering) and so question whether the NDF can 

provide the necessary policy framework and guidance. This goes beyond 

mitigation and may be interpreted differently by Planning Inspectors. 

• Can it be confirmed that evidence will be provided through Welsh Government 

and its key partners to enable planning authorities to “…include these sites in 

development plans”? At present, it is unclear if this evidence will be provided 

within the Green Infrastructure Assessments and/or Area Statements. 

• The Council is unclear how the first bulleted criteria in Policy 8 will be applied as 

there is no spatial expression. For example, it may result in land-use conflict with 

renewable energy priority areas. 

• It is not clear what is meant by “….cumulative action…..” 

• Policy 9 seems to be an aspirational action point/statement rather than a strategic 

land use policy. Without the land identified it is not clear how the national forest 

will be delivered and safeguarded. 

• It would seem appropriate that once areas have been identified for or established 

as National Forest, they are then mapped as nationally important Strategic Green 

Infrastructure in order to protect their multi-functional role?   It is accepted that 

recognition must be given to both the ecological value and the 

productive/commercial role of any such forest. 

 

Page 24



 

 

 

 

7. Renewable Energy and District Heat Networks (policies 10-15) 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the NDF’s policies to lower carbon 
emissions in Wales using… 
 

 
Strongly 

agree 
Agree 

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

Large scale  
wind and 
solar 
developments 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

District heat 
networks 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

•  If you disagree with the NDF’s approaches to green infrastructure, renewable 
energy or district heat networks, what alternative approaches should we consider 
to help Wales to enhance its biodiversity and transition to a low carbon 
economy? 
 

• The Council welcomes the opportunity to review TAN 8.  However, Powys County 

Council is concerned over the way that the Priority Areas have been identified. 

• There are serious concerns as to whether the NDF could deliver the large-scale wind 

and solar energy developments anticipated by Welsh Government in the identified 

priority areas, which raises major doubts about the robustness of the underpinning 

evidence base. The Council has noted that some of the priority areas contain 

constraints such as internationally designated Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) 

which the evidence base states were excluded. 

• ARUPs have not refined the priority areas sufficiently to be meaningful – e.g. failing 

to take account of renewable energy industry guidance regarding proximity of large 

scale wind and solar developments to settlements and residential properties to 

account for noise etc. As a consequence, Priority Area 6 is simply too large and 

improperly constrained to be meaningful. The Council considers much greater 

clarification and further assessment of the priority areas is necessary to ensure 

appropriate policies can be developed. 

• Deliverability of any large-scale renewable energy development is some priority 

areas is questioned. Lack of consideration of other nationally important strategic 

land-uses such as dedicated military training areas (e.g. Sennybridge Training Area 

which takes up much of priority area 8) undermines the evidence base as it implies 

these and other nationally-important strategic land uses have been ignored and that 

the evidence is not therefore appropriate.  

• The Council questions how solar and wind developments have shared priority areas 

Page 25



 

 

particularly in mid-Wales, when these technologies, according to the evidence base, 

have different constraining factors. If the evidence base were robust, the Council 

would expect the maps to more widely identify areas of wind only, solar only as well 

as wind and solar priority areas. 

• Priority Area 8 should be removed as it predominantly within Sennybridge training 

area and its approach flight paths. The Army makes a significant economic 

contribution to the area, and as SENTA and its low flying approaches takes up much 

of Priority Area 8 renewable energy development would not be appropriate in this 

area as it would compromise military requirements and potential loss of the facility. 

Have landowners such as the MOD been consulted appropriately? 

• No recognition in policy of community ownership of renewable energy schemes to 

ensure that the aspiration of 1GW in local ownership is delivered. 

• Policy 16 refers to the spatial areas for renewable energy as being a matter for 

Strategic Development Plans, i.e. regional planning, yet priority areas are being 

identified by the NDF.  Does this mean that strategic development plans should 

refine, remove or add to the Priority Areas further? It is unclear how areas without 

SDPs can meet the policy requirements. 

• The policy should be reworded to acknowledge there may be no SDP for an area 

(e.g. it may be a joint LDP area). This would enable flexibility in the plan hierarchy. 

• Traffic light Red – these should be shown spatially as these are the areas 

protected/safeguarded from large scale wind and solar renewable energy projects.  

Helps to assess where Green priority areas may sit directly alongside Red areas (a 

potential source of conflict). The maps need to be presented in terms of 

red/amber/green for each technology – it will also be necessary to indicate areas 

where there is no potential due to lack of resource. 

• Maps presented at 1:250,000 scale due to high level study at a national level and not 

designed to present site-level accuracy. However more detailed maps will be 

required to refer to at the planning application stage in order to identify whether a site 

lies within or outside of the Priority Area, which will be fundamental to decision-

making. How will decision makers and potential developers know whether a 

development proposal is inside or outside a priority area? 

• National policies proposed in the NDF are in conflict with and contradict the policies 

set out at the local level in the Powys LDP, so divorcing DNS from the Local 

Development Plan policy framework. The NDF and its evidence should have regard 

to the Powys LDP’s evidence base and the criteria used - as defined by WG’s 

Renewable Energy Assessment Toolkit - to assess the potential for renewable 

energy. The policy should reference lower tier plans. 

• How will decision makers be able to reconcile new national policy with the existing 

adopted local plan policy where the detailed evidence base indicated that wind power 

would be unacceptable due to constraining factors? 

• No recognition of the Landscape Sensitivity. It is apparent that no Landscape 

Sensitivity Assessment has been prepared to underpin the priority areas, as 

undertaken to inform Powys Renewable Energy policy. Thus there is a high potential 

to undermine other NDF policies such as safeguarded ecological areas (NDF Policy 

8) and adversely affect other economic sectors such as tourism. It is also of concern 

that no account seems to have been taken with regards to the settings of protected 

Page 26



 

 

landscapes. 

• There is a conflict between some of the Priority Areas and the Local Search Areas for 

solar identified within the Powys LDP where solar energy development is to be 

prioritised. 

• Concerns about the robustness of the underpinning evidence base. For example, 

Stage 2 table relating to the rationale for refined priority areas makes reference to 

Priority Area 5 as:  “The boundary of this area has been pulled back to avoid 

Llandrindod Wells”. This is incorrect as Priority Area 5 is not in the same area as 

Llandrindod Wells. Llandrindod Wells is to the south of Priority Area 6. 

• The Council welcomes recognition of cumulative impacts within policies 10 and 11 – 

further guidance on assessing and addressing cumulative impacts so that 

communities and protected landscapes do not become “surrounded” by RE 

developments should be issued and consulted upon well in advance of the NDF start 

date. 

• The development of large-scale wind development outside the Priority Areas, 

particularly in close proximity to their boundaries, could potentially prejudice the 

development of large-scale wind within the Priority Areas, due to cumulative impacts.  

Buffers around the Priority Areas would help to minimise potential for cumulative 

effects. 

• The GIS computer generated priority areas which take into account a number of 

variables in locating suitable renewable development, do not look at industry or other 

important economic sectors which could be impacted by the development of wind or 

solar farms, e.g. tourism businesses and tourism assets such as National Trails / 

rights of way which play an important role in the rural economy. This needs to be 

given consideration to and factored into planning guidance for decision makers. 

• Priority areas have not taken into account any other known unsuitable areas i.e. large 

areas of peat which should be safeguarded as important carbon sinks. 

• A policy should be included to ensure proposals for grid improvements and 

connection are considered with the application for the renewable energy scheme 

itself. Any additional Infrastructure associated with DNS renewable energy 

developments should also be dealt with by appropriate NDF policy. 

• There is a lack of consideration in the NDF for Grid Connection and ancillary 

infrastructure and how that will impact the landscape and other economic sectors. 

Planning policy guidance for decision makers should regard the landscape impact of 

grid connection as a material consideration. Applications which allow development to 

connect to existing DNO grid connections (and therefore would be more sympathetic 

to the landscape) should be given more favourable weight than applications which 

will require large scale pylons.  

• Grid capacity has not been considered in refining the Priority Areas, however this 

matter will impact on the deliverability of renewable energy development in these 

areas. 

• The impact of all RE developments and all associated infrastructure on the 

landscape and communities should be considered through the NDF as this 

seriously affects delivery and impacts local communities. When a DNS application is 

Page 27



 

 

submitted it must allow for community engagement / consultation, there must be a 

clear process and communities must be given ample notice of the application to 

assess wider implications and impact on the community. The Council also consider 

that community consultation should not be limited to the community / ward most 

directly impacted. Consultation and engagement should extend to all those 

surrounding communities that also may be impacted by congestion during the 

construction phase of any developments and also the visual impact due to the 

largescale nature of the developments. For example, It is unclear how issues such as 

vehicular access to the Priority Areas will be addressed, as this may affect the 

delivery of renewable energy within the areas through unacceptable impact on wider 

road networks and communities.  A statement should be included which refers to 

LDP policies. 

• Wording of the policies should be clear and consistent to establish the meaning of 

“identified protected assets” (they may be protected at different levels in the planning 

hierarchy or be statutory/non-statutory designations). 

• The policies should have  “strategic green infrastructure” added (when identified) to 

list of safeguarded features, to be in alignment with NDF policies 8 and 9. 

• Policy 13 for determining other RE DNS proposals refers to the criteria in Policy 11.  

However, the criteria for Policy 11 have been written solely with wind and solar 

energy in mind.  Other types of renewable energy which may be Developments of 

National Significance  (e.g. energy from waste schemes) are not covered sufficiently 

by the policy and may have different impacts that need to be addressed (e.g. 

amenity, air pollution, transport implications).  The Council would want to ensure 

linkages to LDP policies which provide a more robust and comprehensive decision-

making framework.  The list of criteria in the NDF is inadequate. 

• The Council notes that the regional maps do not include reference to the priority 

areas for renewables – they will impact at regional scale. 

• Policy 14:  District Heat Networks:  It is not clear how the Priority Areas and identified 

settlements have been arrived at. No alignment has been made with national and 

regional growth areas where robust policy drivers could enable large, viable schemes 

to be brought forward. Potentially the advice on large scale, mixed use developments 

would be better placed in PPW/TAN advice. 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

8. The Regions (policy 16) 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the principle of developing 
Strategic Development Plans prepared at a regional scale? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

• The Council disagrees with the principle of three regions. It considers that there 

should be a fourth region aligned with the Growing Mid Wales Growth Deal. 

• It is noted that the NDF acknowledges that the large M&SWW Region is 

considerably varied in character and that two broad spatial sub-regions should be 

recognised – described in the NDF as a) the built up areas around Swansea, Neath 

Port Talbot, southern Carmarthenshire and the Haven Towns and b) the wider rural 

hinterland of north Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion, Powys and northern 

Carmarthenshire. The Council disagrees with this definition and considers that a 

separate Mid Wales Region would be more appropriate. 

• Whilst the Council recognises the principle of enabling SDPs at the regional level, 

the Council does not agree that requiring the full coverage of them is necessary.  

The Draft NDF is written as if Strategic Development Plans are a given for “each 

region” of Wales – inferring that they will cover the whole region and that every LPA 

will be expected to have an SDP framework structuring its LDP.   This is not in 

accordance with the supporting text for the Mid and South west Wales region which 

indicates flexibility of approach. 

• The Council consider that the decision on whether to pursue a SDP should be 

dependent on the nature and scale of the issues that are being faced by a 

region/sub- region/constituent LPAs, how much interrelationship there is/how much 

scope there is to address the identified issues through regional working and the 

cost implications. 

• The complexities of different time frames (differing Plan lengths across the three 

tiers of development plan, with current adopted LDPs at varying stages) and the 

impact this has on evidence gathering should be recognised. 

• Some LPA areas/sub-regions may not need more than LDP or Joint LDP coverage 

to control growth and development – depends on the issues that a Plan has to 

address.   

 

Page 29



 

 

 
 

 

The NDF identifies three overall regions of Wales, each with their own distinct 

opportunities and challenges. These are North Wales, Mid and South West Wales, and 

South East Wales. 

 

 

9. North Wales (policies 17-22) 
 

We have identified Wrexham and Deeside as the main focus of development in North 

Wales.  A new green belt will be created to manage the form of growth.  A number of 

coastal towns are identified as having key regional roles, while we support growth and 

development at Holyhead Port.  We will support improved transport infrastructure in the 

region, including a North Wales Metro, and support better connectivity with England.  

North West Wales is recognised as having potential to supply low-carbon energy on a 

strategic scale. 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and 
approach for the North Region? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

• There is a practical difficulty in terms of differing end dates of current Local 

Development Plans and how soon an SDP/LDP Lite framework could realistically be 

put in place.  There will be a drive towards continuing with replacement Local 

Development Plans because of the complexity of changing the system whilst LPAs 

cope with resourcing issues.  The threat of an LDP drop dead date, creating a policy 

vacuum, can mean LPAs are left with little choice but to pursue review/replacement of 

traditional LDPs (i.e. not await LDP Lites) to ensure continued development plan 

coverage.   

• The flexibility offered towards regional planning on p.56 (A collaborative and holistic 

approach) is welcome.  However, this text appears to conflict with other parts of the 

NDF document, including Policy 16, which seem to refer to the Strategic 

Development Plans as having full coverage. The Council considers it essential that 

the NDF offers choice as to whether to progress/join an SDP. 

• It is accepted that in the absence of an SDP, the LDP (potentially a Joint LDP?) would 

need to ensure Policy 16 requirements are adequately addressed. 

• The Council question how realistic the delivery of implied full SDP coverage would be 

, given the differing Plan timetables (and hence different priorities) for constituent 

LPAs, together with anticipated costs and staff resources where SDP preparation 

may have to progress alongside a replacement LDP. 

• There is added confusion when comparing the NDF to the LDP Draft Manual which 

included Diagram 2: Hierarchy of General Conformity & Development Plans – which 

appeared to provide a choice of routes to achieve Plan coverage.  The NDF does not 

set a clear framework for LDP Lites which have been explained in the LDP Draft 

Manual. 

• Please note that minerals and waste planning operatesoperate under a different 

regional footprint to that identified in the NDF which may cause practical difficulties. 

Page 30



 

 

 
10. Mid and South West Wales (policies 23-26) 
 

Swansea Bay and Llanelli is the main urban area within the region and is our preferred 

location for growth.  We also identify a number of rural and market towns, and the four 

Haven Towns in Pembrokeshire, as being regionally important.  The haven Waterway is 

nationally important and its development is supported.  We support proposals for a 

Swansea Bay Metro. 

 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and 
approach for the Mid and South West Region? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

• There should be four regions and there should not be a requirement for Strategic 

Development Plans across the entire region or constituent sub-regions.  

Challenges faced in a rural area may not suit this approach.  The Council 

considers that a policy proposal for full SDPs coverage is not realistic, 

appropriate or achievable within funding constraints. 

• Advice on regional planning is not clear or consistent across the document. The 

two centres of regional growth identified for Powys (M&SWW area) are not 

supported by Powys County Council to the exclusion of other areas and the 

basis for identifying Newtown and Llandrindod Wells as regional centres is 

unclear (what of important centres such as Welshpool and the rest of Powys’ 

Market Towns?) and has no robust justification - what factors were used to 

identify these as regional centres in Powys? 

• There is no consistency of approach – multiple towns are recognised as regional 

centres in Pembrokeshire - the “Haven towns” – but a similar approach is not 

used elsewhere e.g. “Severn Valley market towns”. 

• Policy 24 implies the need for SDPs for the regional centres (such as 

Llandrindod and Newtown). The Council cannot support this approach. 

• Other main settlements have similar existing roles.  The NDF should have had 

more regard to the stringency applied to SDP preparation set out in the Draft 

LDP Manual: 

“All settlements across a region are not equal in terms of their role and function. 

Not every LPA within a region should have a settlement, or settlements, 

identified within the SDP. An SDP should only identify those places key to 

delivering the plan, not formulate a list of locations with at least one in each 

constituent LPA as a default position. There should be a clear evidence base for 

identifying places linked directly to their role and function, both within and 

beyond the region”. 

• To ensure deliverability, settlement capacity studies are required to provide 

evidence otherwise the identified growth settlements cannot be relied upon. 

Page 31



 

 

 

 
 

 

• There is potential for conflicting demands in terms of the resources of the 

region, particularly with regard to landscape and renewable energy, and also 

the diversity of the region, particularly tourism and the rural economy.  How 

are the assets that contribute to visitor appeal to be protected?  The size of 

the Renewable Energy Priority Areas, particularly in Mid Wales, means that 

significant landscape change will be accepted on a large scale, which could 

adversely impact on the attractiveness of the area. 

Page 32



 

 

11. South East Wales (policies 27-33) 
 

In South East Wales we are proposing to enhance Cardiff’s role as the capital and 

secure more sustainable growth in Newport and the Valleys. A green belt around 

Newport and eastern parts of the region will support the spatial strategy and focus 

development on existing cities and towns. Transport Orientated Development, using 

locations benefitting from mainline railway and Metro stations, will shape the approach 

to development across the region.  There is support for the growth and development of 

Cardiff Airport. 

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and 
approach for the South East Region? 
 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither 

agree nor 
disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

Don’t 
know 

No 
opinion 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 33



 

 

If you have any comments about the NDF’s approach or policies to the three regions, 

please tell us. If you have any alternatives, please explain them and tell us why you 

think they would be better.  

 

• The Council objects to the identification of only three regions. Given the 

importance of the emerging Growth Deal for Mid Wales and strategic importance 

the Council attaches to it, the Council considers that Mid Wales should be 

identified as a Region in its own right. 

• The Council does however welcome the flexibility of approach that enables 

definition of and focus on sub-regions, rather than a full region, where it is 

demonstrated this is appropriate, as this provides opportunities for other regional 

groupings. 

• The suite of regional policies is not consistent or well aligned.  For example, 

MSWW has a specific policy on Regional Centres but the equivalent policies are 

called something else in the other two regions.  This leads to a confusing 

document. 

• Retain scope for LPAs to work jointly or individually to produce Joint or Single 

LDPs that cover the area issues, without bringing in the complexity of a Strategic 

Development Plan.  If moving definitively towards SDP and LDP Lites across all 

of Wales, realistic timeframes for such work should be identified so that LPAs are 

working to a common goal across each NDF Region/NDF Potential Sub-Region 

and are not left without adopted lower tier plans. 

• The perceived regional linkages on the maps give the impression of domination 

by the road network, and opportunities for improvements for public transport are 

neglected e.g. continued rail improvements or station improvement / reopening 

opportunities. 

• Information provided on the national map are omitted from the regional maps, 

most noticeably protected landscape (National Parks and AONBs). The regional 

maps should include not only the information on the national map but provide 

additional regional context. 

• The NDF is silent on important regional issues such as waste management (e.g. 

void space), minerals and national transport infrastructure. The Council consider 

that an opportunity has been missed to provide that national policy framework to 

sustainably manage such resources. 

Page 34



 

 

 

12. Integrated Sustainability Appraisal 
 

As part of the consultation process, an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) was 

conducted to assess the social, economic and environmental impacts of a plan. The 

report identified a number of monitoring indicators, including health, equalities, Welsh 

language, the impact on rural communities, children’s rights, climate change and 

economic development.  

• Do you have any comments on the findings of the Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal Report?  Please outline any further alternative monitoring indicators 
you consider would strengthen the ISA. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

13. Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 

As part of the development of the NDF, a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) was 

undertaken. The purpose of the HRA process is to identify, assess and address any 

‘significant effects’ of the plan on sites such as Special Areas of Conservation and 

Special Protection Areas for birds.  

• Do you have any comments on the Habitats Regulations Assessment report? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 35



 

 

 

14. Welsh Language 
 

We would like to know your views on the effects that the NDF would have on the Welsh 

language, specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh and on treating the 

Welsh language no less favourably than English.  

• What effects do you think there would be?  How could positive effects be 
increased, or negative effects be mitigated?  
 

 

• The NDF refers in its outcomes to the need to manage development in areas where 

Welsh is the everyday language of the community and emphasises the role of 

education in other areas. However, the NDF does not include a spatial policy to 

implement this.  If the intention is for these areas to be identified and policies 

formulated in lower tier plans, this should be made clear. 

• The Welsh Language is referred to in respect of each of the regions, however this 

only highlights that development plans should consider the relationship between 

strategic housing, transport and economic growth and the Welsh language.  It is 

understood from the figures provided that the Welsh Language is relatively important 

across all of the regions, but more so in North Wales and in heartlands elsewhere.  

The approach towards the Welsh language in the NDF should provide policies to 

support the outcomes. 

 

Please also explain how you believe the proposed NDF could be formulated or changed 

so as to have: 

I. positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities for people to use 
the Welsh language and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than 
the English language, and  

II. no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

 

15. Further comments 
 

• Are there any further comments that you would like to make on the NDF, or any 
alternative proposals you feel we should consider?  
 

Powys County Council welcomes the publication of the draft NDF and the opportunity to 
contribute to its improvement. However, given the time taken for its preparation and the 
contributions the Authority has made during the calls for evidence, the outcome is 
disappointing as it is not clear what the NDF document is seeking to address. Furthermore, 
there seems to be little attempt to have policies coherently underpinned by robust evidence 
such as housing viability or aligned with active existing regional agenda such as Growth 
Deals, which raises concerns that the NDF can be effectively delivered.  

 
• The Draft NDF document appears to be trying to include aspirations, include 

wider WG policy than planning as well as act as the highest tier of development 

plan for policy purposes and decision making.  It therefore loses its spatial 

planning planning focus and is not likely to set the well-evidenced, robust and 

reliable higher tier framework for spatial planning that it sets out to do. It is 

doubtful if nationally significant development proposals could be determined 

against any of the policies proposed in the NDF.  A clear distinction should be 

drawn between aspirations/aims etc. and spatial planning policies which could be 

a separate land use planning section. 

• There is an inconsistent audit trail between the background evidence and the 

decisions made in the Plan. 

• There is a mix of terminology across the Plan (e.g. growth centres, urban centres, 

urban clusters, cities, towns, large towns, rural towns, villages/rural communities) 

and different sections address approaches to the national settlement hierarchy in 

various ways which leads to a confusing document. Map legends do not always 

correlate to written text. The lack of consistency extends to the regional names 

(Map – Mid and West Wales; Text - Mid and South West Wales.  This is 

disappointing to see in an important national document. 

• As a higher tier plan, it is often weak/inconsistent in setting out, particularly in the 

Policies section, how exactly lower tier plans should respond and relate to the 

NDF.  For example, the lack of clarity of the relationship with sustainable 

settlement hierarchies in lower tier plans.  This will fail to add certainty or reduce 

complexity of the planning system in Wales. 

• The NDF should be more specific about the role, relationship with, and coverage 

of the full suite of development plans, and as such properly make reference to 

which tier and type of plan is being referred to, i.e. SDPs, LDPs, LDP Lites as 

appropriate. 

• The Council is concerned about the implicit need for SDP coverage across the 

regions or sub-regionally due to the costs involved. 

• Planning decisions at every level of the planning system in Wales must be taken 

in accordance with the development plan as a whole (the three tier framework).  

Page 37



 

 

Whilst this is well explained in the introduction (Chapter 1) as is the fit with PPW 

and Technical Advice Notes, later chapters (including Renewable Energy and the 

regional sections) fail to recognise the synergy of the three tier system and also 

how the NDF relates to the existing national policy framework in PPW/TANs. 

Further cross-references with PPW and TANs would be welcome to firmly 

establish the policy framework. 

• To increase understanding of how the NDF intends to influence lower tier plans, it 

would be better if the Welsh Government could identify the national issues in this 

document that lower tier plans are best placed to address, especially where 

evidence is still awaited.  Sometimes the NDF is trying to do too much in one 

document and failing to make appropriate links to the complementary coverage 

that PPW and TANs already include on national issues.  In other places (e.g. 

Policy 5 and Policy 8) the approach is far clearer. 

• Decision makers need to know when the NDF carries weight.  Will it be only on 

final publication or in emerging stages? 

 

 

 

16. Are you...? 
 

Providing your own personal response  
 

Submitting a response on behalf of an organisation X 
 

 
   

 
Responses to the consultation will be shared with the National 
Assembly for Wales and are likely to be made public, on the 
internet or in a report.  If you would prefer your response to 
remain anonymous, please tick here 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 38


	Agenda
	1 Council Response to the Draft National Development Framework
	Appendix1 PCC Consultation Response to NDF


